Building a National Narrative

A SELECT REVIEW OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE POLICIES, LEGISLATION, AND SERVICES ACROSS CANADA





Women's Shelters Canada (WSC) is based in Ottawa. Bringing together 15 provincial and territorial shelter organizations, we represent a strong, unified voice on the issue of violence against women on the national stage. Through collaboration, knowledge exchange, and adoption of innovative practices, we advance the coordination and implementation of high-quality services for women and children accessing shelters.

Women's Shelters Canada acknowledges that the location of our office and the work that we do in Ottawa is on the traditional, unceded territories of the Algonquin Anishnaabeg people.

Women's Shelters Canada 85 Albert Street, Suite 1501 Ottawa ON K1P 6A4

Phone: 613-680-5119 Email: <u>info@endvaw.ca</u> Website: www.endvaw.ca

Social Media: @endvawnetwork

© Women's Shelters Canada 2021

Acknowledgements

WSC would like to thank all the provincial and territorial shelter/transition house associations who reviewed this document and assisted with the research for this review.

About the Authors

This review is the result of a joint effort by current WSC staff Lise Martin, Heather Stewart, Kaitlin Bardswich, and Krys Maki, as well as Loran Scholar Katarzyna Farrell. Work on previous drafts was done by Natalie McMullen and Francesca Sapozhnikov, as well as Loran Scholars Joanne Banh, Peeha Luthra, and Umaiyahl Nageswaran.

French Version

This report is available in French as État des lieux de la violence familiale au Canada.

Women's Shelters Canada, formerly the Canadian Network of Women's Shelters and Transition Houses, would like to thank the Canadian Women's Foundation for providing funding support for this project. The opinions expressed in these documents do not necessarily represent the official policy of the Canadian Women's Foundation.

Table of Contents

| Background and Objective of Review | 1 |
|--|----|
| Action Plans on VAW | 2 |
| Table I. Federal, Provincial, and Territorial Action Plans, Initiatives, and Strategies on VAW | 3 |
| Funding | 6 |
| Table II. Department/Ministry Responsible for Operational Funding, Allocation, Provincial Length of Stay Standard, & Shelter Service Standards | 7 |
| Death Review Committees | 9 |
| Table II. Domestic Violence Death Review Committees and Panels | 10 |
| Provincial and Territorial Tenancy Acts | 12 |
| Table IV. Domestic Violence Provisions in Provincial and Territorial Tenancy Acts | 12 |
| Paid and Unpaid Leave | 15 |
| Table V. Provincially and Territorially Legislated Paid/Unpaid Leave for Domestic Violence Survivors | 15 |
| Clare's Law | 16 |
| Table VI. Interpersonal Violence Disclosure Legislation (Clare's Law) | 16 |
| Concluding Remarks | 17 |
| End Notes | 18 |

Background and Objective of Review

The impetus for this review was the desire of Women's Shelters Canada (WSC) to begin mapping out the terrain in which survivors of violence against women (VAW) must navigate to rebuild their lives. Our intent was to provide a desk review, looking at what was available online. This exercise was much more challenging than initially anticipated. The lack of accessible information and data on government websites makes it extremely difficult to find current and reliable information.

The objective of this document is to provide a cross-jurisdictional comparison of key pieces of legislation and service provision in order to highlight the variations and gaps across the country. It is in part because of these varying levels of services and protection that WSC has strongly advocated for a bold, robust, well-resourced and intersectional National Action Plan (NAP) on Violence Against Women. Women's Shelters Canada commends the federal government for having made a commitment to a 10-year NAP on GBV. Specific financial contributions to the NAP were included in <u>Budget 2021 and Budget 2022</u>.

We continue to work to ensure that Canada's NAP on GBV will reflect the expansiveness of our country and the importance of ensuring that policies and practices (1) respond to the intersections in women's lives and (2) recognize the needs of those marginalized by systems and society.

NAPs are critical frameworks for coordinating efforts and maximizing resources to address VAW.¹ The United Nations has called on all countries to have an NAP by 2015. NAPs establish national standards and call for collaboration between all levels of government, civil society, survivors, and service responders.

Presently, provincial and territorial governments develop and implement VAW response systems independently, based on differing definitions of and approaches to violence and without reliable, generalizable data or ties to federal measures.

The implications of this fragmented and discretionary approach include:

- a missed opportunity to capture and disseminate knowledge and best practices;
- a poor understanding of shelter work that often results in guidelines and levels of support not corresponding to the actual needs or range of services offered;
- significant variances in funding; and
- a climate that is not conducive to working toward, monitoring, and achieving lasting change.

Context of VAW in Canada

¹ This is a living document. Tables will be updated regularly as changes occur across provinces and territories.

[&]quot;What we currently have is a federal strategy on Gender Based Violence. The reach of the federal strategy is limited to the areas of responsibility of the federal government and thus does not ensure that women in all areas of the country have access to comparable levels of services and protection.

In Canada, on average, a current or former intimate partner kills a woman every 1.5 days.² Between 2009 and 2014, 342,000 women in Canada were victims of intimate partner violence (IPV).³ However, according to the 2019 General Social Survey (GSS) on Victimization, 80% of spousal violence is not reported to the police.⁴

On a single day in 2021, there were 5,357 women and children staying in sheltersⁱⁱⁱ across the country primarily because of abuse. On that same day, 742 women and children were turned away from shelters because they were already operating at maximum capacity.⁵ These figures tell us that too many women and children in Canada continue to experience alarming rates of violence and that current demands exceed existing resources; but the issue goes beyond the number of beds available.

Shelters have long been reporting chronic systemic barriers that hinder women from living violence-free lives and prevent shelters from delivering much-needed services. These include poor legislative protections, insufficient social and housing supports, inadequate funding and increases, deficient data collection and monitoring, and convoluted and overlapping information. As a result, there have been repeated calls for greater cohesion within and across jurisdictions and sectors to better align the many moving and interconnected parts involved in preventing and responding to violence against women.

What This Review Includes

We begin this review by looking at the various Action Plans that are in place in Canada's provinces and territories. We then provide information on key aspects of the shelter architecture across the country – the number of VAW shelters receiving government funding, the departments or ministries that provide operational funding to VAW shelters, the maximum length of stay, and the presence of shelter standards.

The presence of Domestic Homicide Review Committees is also included in this review. Finally, we have reviewed provisions for domestic violence in tenancy acts, provisions for leave from work in cases of domestic violence, and the existence of Clare's Law.

Action Plans on VAW

In June 2017, the Government of Canada announced a <u>Gender-Based Violence Strategy</u>. A number of provinces and territories have independently implemented some form of action plan or initiative related to VAW and/or family violence.

According to the United Nations, a National Action Plan is a key mechanism for countries to coordinate the effective prevention of, and appropriate responses to, all forms of VAW. NAPs on VAW "establish a coherent framework and strategic long-term program of activity that address root causes of VAW,

iii Across Canada, the terms "shelter," "transition house," and "transition home" are used in different provinces and territories to refer to VAW residential facilities. When we use the word "shelter" in this report, we are referring to all VAW residential facilities.

strengthen systems that respond to it (including legal systems), and assign accountability and appropriate resources."⁶

Among the 14 recommendations outlined in the UN Handbook, the UN stipulates that, in order to be effective, APs should:

- recognize women as the primary victims of domestic violence, and gender inequality as its root cause:
- involve meaningful participation by community agencies;
- identify adequate budgetary resources;
- ensure consistency among relevant legislation and policies;
- specify data collection and research; and
- include monitoring and evaluation mechanisms.⁷

In 2013, WSC (then called the Canadian Network of Women's Shelters and Transition Houses) released *The Case for a National Action Plan on Violence Against Women*. The report's overall finding was that VAW responses have been "largely fragmented," are "often inaccessible," and that many current policies, legislation, and strategies across Canada "lack effective coordination of efforts, conflict with one another, and/or have unintended (negative) consequences." It also noted that a number of provinces had action plans that provide promising ground on which to build a National Action Plan on all forms of VAW.

The table below provides links to the provinces' and territories' main VAW and/or domestic violence (DV) Action Plans (APs) as well as plans that address specific communities or forms of VAW. Please note that some of these APs have expired but are still the most recent available.

Table I. Federal, Provincial, and Territorial Action Plans, Initiatives, and Strategies on VAW

| | Name of VAW or DV AP / Framework / Initiative | APs for Specific Communities / Forms of VAW |
|--------|--|---|
| Canada | Federal Gender-Based Violence Strategy (2019) Joint Declaration for a Canada free of Gender-Based Violence (2011) | Gender Equality: A Foundation for Peace - Canadas National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council Resolutions on Women, Peace, and Security 2017-2022 2021 Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women, Girls, and 2SLGBTQIA+ People National Action Plan: Ending Violence Against Indigenous Women, Girls, and 2SLGBTQIA+ People |

| | Name of VAW or DV AP / Framework / Initiative | APs for Specific Communities / Forms of VAW |
|---------------------|--|--|
| Alberta | Family Violence Hurts Everyone: A Framework to End Family Violence in Alberta (2013) | Preventing Violence Against Women and Girls Commitment to End Sexual Violence Alberta's Plan for Promoting Healthy Relationships and Preventing Bullying (2014) Addressing Elder Abuse in Alberta – A Strategy for Collective Action (2010) |
| British Columbia | Coroners Recommendations Working Group (CRWG) - A Review of Intimate Partner Violence Deaths 2010-2015 Action Plan (2017) A Vision for a Violence Free BC: Addressing Violence Against Women in British Columbia (2015) British Columbia's Provincial Domestic Violence Plan: First Annual Report (2015) Provincial Domestic Violence Plan (2014) | Accessibility 2024 (2014) Together to Reduce Elder Abuse – B.C.'s Strategy (2013) ERASE (Expect Respect and A Safe Education) Bullying strategy (2012) |
| Manitoba | Manitoba's Multi-year Domestic Violence Prevention Strategy (2012) | |
| New Brunswick | A Better World for Women: Moving Forward 2005-2010 | Preventing and Responding to Sexual Violence in New Brunswick (2018) New Brunswick plan to prevent and respond to violence against Aboriginal women and girls (2017 – 2021) New Brunswick Family Plan: Advancing Women's Equality (2017) |

| | Name of VAW or DV AP / Framework / Initiative | APs for Specific Communities / Forms of VAW |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| | | A Strategic Framework to End Violence against Wabanaki Women in New Brunswick (2008) |
| Newfoundland and Labrador | Working Together for Violence-Free Communities: 2015-2019 Prevention of Violence Action Plan | Minister's Committee on Violence Against Women and Girls. Progress Report (2018) |
| | Coalition Against Family Violence: Strategic Directions in Ending Family Violence in the NWT (2018) NWT Family Violence Action Plan: | Creating Safe Communities for Older Adults: A |
| Northwest Territories | Phase II (2007-2012) Government of the NWT Response to | Five Year Strategy for the Northwest Territories (2015 – 2020) |
| | the NWT Action Plan on Family Violence: A Framework for Action (2003-2008) | |
| Nova Scotia | Standing Together to Prevent Domestic Violence: Building a provincial action plan (2019) | Breaking the Silence: A coordinated response to sexual violence in Nova Scotia: Progress Report Year 3 (June 2016 – May 2017) |
| Nova Scotia | Domestic Violence Action Plan Update (2012) Domestic Violence Action Plan (2010) | Breaking the Silence: A coordinated response to sexual violence in Nova Scotia (2015) |
| Nunavut | Government of Nunavut Family Violence Prevention Framework for Action | Strategic Plan for Inuit Violence Prevention and Healing (2016) Nunavut Sexual Health Framework for Action 2012-2017 (2012) |
| | It's Never Okay: Ontario's Gender-Based Violence Strategy (2018) | lt's Never Okay: Action Plan to Stop Sexual Violence and Harassment: Progress Update 2016 – 2017 |
| Ontario | <u>Domestic Violence Action Plan</u> <u>Progress Report Update (2012)</u> Domestic Violence Action Plan | It's Never Okay: Action Plan to Stop Sexual Violence and Harassment (2015) |
| | Update (2007) Domestic Violence Action Plan (2004) | Walking Together: Ontario's Long-Term Strategy to End Violence Against Indigenous Women – Year Two Update (2018) |

| | Name of VAW or DV AP / Framework / Initiative | APs for Specific Communities / Forms of VAW |
|--------------|---|---|
| | | Walking Together: Ontario's Long-Term Strategy to End Violence Against Indigenous Women (2016) |
| PEI | Strategies for Addressing Family Violence in Prince Edward Island (2015) | |
| Quebec | Plan d'action gouvernemental en matière de violence conjugale (2018-2023) | Ensemble pour l'égalité. Stratégie gouvernementale pour l'égalité entre les femmes et les hommes vers 2021(2017-21) Stratégie gouvernementale pour prévenir et contrer les violences sexuelles (2016-2021) |
| Saskatchewan | No formal plan currently exists | Saskatchewan Sexual Violence Action Plan (2019) |
| Yukon | No formal plan currently exists | Safe at Home: A Community-Based Action Plan to End and Prevent Homelessness (2017) Outcomes and Priorities for Action to Prevent and Address Violence Against Indigenous Women and Girls (2016) Health and Social Services Strategic Plan 2014- 2019 Victims of Crime Strategy (2009-2014) |

Funding

Funding is a central issue in shelter system architecture and administration. It is one of the areas where opacity, lack of coordination, and the absence of data-informed decision-making often result in confusion, inconsistencies, and inadequate responses. Funding for women's shelters is typically funneled through two distinct streams: capital and operations. However, a comprehensive picture of funding schemes in each province and territory is beyond the scope of this review.

Operational funding is administered through one or more provincial/territorial department. Monies are for "core services," as defined by government agencies, and/or for distinct projects or programs.

The services and programs that ministries fund differ from one province/territory to the next, as do the amounts of funding provided, the types and lengths of agreements, the naming of services, accessibility, and guidelines and standards related to admission criteria, length of stay, staff training and remuneration, reporting, legislative compliance, and so on. This variability and lack of clarity, transparency, and informed decision-making, particularly at the ministerial level, leads to confusion and frustration for those in the shelter sector and interferes with their capacity to carry out their work.

These system gaps translate to out-of-touch, inappropriate, and inadequate service agreements, and contracts, impacting shelter workers as well as women and children on the ground. For example, eligibility restrictions or funding holes sometimes reflect a lack of understanding about the actual services shelters offer and the communities they serve. This disconnect means that women fleeing violence are not guaranteed the same services and supports from one shelter and jurisdiction to the next.

Table II. Department/Ministry Responsible for Operational Funding, Provincial Length of Stay Standard, and Shelter Service Standards

| | Department/ Ministry Responsible for Administering Funding to Shelters | Number of VAW Facilities to which Operational Funding is Provided ^{iv} | Provincial Length of Stay Standard ^v | Shelter Service Standards ^{vi} |
|------------------------|---|---|--|--|
| ISC-funded shelters | Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) | 41 shelters, mostly on reserve ⁹ | N/A | National Aboriginal Circle Against Family Violence (NACAFV): Guidelines for Shelters |
| Alberta | Community and Social Services | 30 emergency shelters, 12 second stage shelters, and 2 seniors' shelters. 10 | 21 days | Women's Shelter Program Manual (Government of Alberta, 2002) and <u>Alberta</u> <u>Council of</u> |

^{iv} There may be slight variations in numbers depending on the source and how a shelter differentiates its facilities $(1^{st} \text{ stage}, 2^{nd} \text{ stage}, \text{or mixed facility of both } 1^{st} \text{ and } 2^{nd} \text{ stage})$. ISC-funded shelters are not reflected in the provincial/territorial numbers. These numbers are not readily available on most government websites.

^v These figures were provided by the provincial and territorial shelter associations. Due to lack of safe and affordable housing, extensions and increases in length of stay are regularly given to women across the country.

vi Unlinked titles are documents not available online.

vii ISC-funded shelters are members of NACAFV. Some of these shelters are also members of provincial associations and thus covered by those standards as well.

| | Department/ Ministry Responsible for Administering Funding to Shelters | Number of VAW Facilities to which Operational Funding is Providediv | Provincial Length of Stay Standard ^v | Shelter Service Standards ^{vi} |
|------------------------------|--|---|--|--|
| | | | | Women's Shelters Aspirational Service Standards (2005) |
| British Columbia | BC Housing | 68 transition houses, 27 safe homes, and 30 second stage houses ¹¹ | 30 days | Women's Transition Housing and Supports Program Framework (2015) |
| Manitoba | Department of Families | 10 women's shelters and 4 second stage shelters ¹² | 30 days | Manitoba Standards Manual for Women's Shelters (2014) |
| New Brunswick | Department of Social Development | 13 transition houses ¹³ and 5 second stage shelters ¹⁴ | 30 days | Standards & Procedures for Adult Residential Facilities (2013) |
| Newfoundland and Labrador | Department of Health and Community Services | 12 transition houses ¹⁵ | 6 weeks | Provincial Transition Houses Operational Standards (2010) |
| Northwest Territories | Department of Health and Social Services | 5 family violence shelters ¹⁶ | 6 weeks | NWT Shelter Minimum Standards (2011) ^{viii} |
| Nova Scotia | Nova Scotia Advisory Council on the Status of Women | 12 transition houses and 4 second stage shelters ¹⁷ | 6 weeks | Nova Scotia Standards for Member Organizations of the Transition House Association of Nova Scotia (2012) |
| Nunavut | Department of Family Services | 5 family violence shelters ¹⁸ | 6 weeks | Saillivik Policy (2009) ^{ix} |

viii These government standards have not been formally implemented.

^{ix} According to this policy, all family violence shelters must enter into a Contribution Agreement, which outlines the minimum standards that family violence shelters must comply with.

| | Department/ Ministry Responsible for Administering Funding to Shelters | Number of VAW Facilities to which Operational Funding is Providediv | Provincial Length of Stay Standard ^v | Shelter Service Standards ^{vi} |
|--------------|--|---|--|--|
| Ontario | Ministry of Community and Social Services | 96 emergency women's shelters ¹⁹ | No stipulated length of stay | Violence Against Women (VAW) - Emergency Shelter Standards and Standards for Ontario Indigenous Shelters (2017) |
| PEI | Department of Family and Human Services | 2 emergency women's shelters ²⁰ | 21 days | No shelter standards |
| Quebec | Ministry of Health and Social Services | 109 women's shelters ²¹ | No stipulated length of stay | No shelter standards |
| Saskatchewan | Ministry of Justice | 12 transition houses ²² | 6 weeks | Saskatchewan Residential Services Act (2002) and Provincial Association of Transition Houses and Services of Saskatchewan Shelter Standards (2010) and Saskatchewan First Nations Women's Shelter Standards (2018) |
| Yukon | Department of Health and Social Services | 3 women's shelters ²³ | 30 days | No shelter standards |

Death Review Committees

Domestic Violence Death Review Committees (DVDRCs) are multi-disciplinary advisory committees composed of experts who review domestic violence-related deaths and provide non-binding recommendations for change to provincial governments in order to prevent future deaths. ²⁴ They focus on addressing systemic issues that increase domestic homicides but do not investigate the criminal

culpability of individual perpetrators. Their reports are often structured along the themes of awareness/education, assessment/intervention, and providing resources.

DVDRCs currently exist in Australia, New Zealand, Great Britain, and the United States. In 2002, Canada's first DVDRC was established in Ontario, based on recommendations from two major inquests into the killings of Arlene May and Gillian Hadley. ²⁵ Several other provinces have since formed their own committees or one-time death review panels.

Table III. Domestic Violence Death Review Committees and Panels

| | Name of the Committee / Panel | Year Committee / Panel Was Established | Most Recent Report |
|---------------------|---|---|---|
| Alberta | Family Violence Death Review Committee | May 2013 ²⁶ | Family Violence Death Review Committee: Case Review Public Report #6 (May 2018) and 2016 Annual Report |
| British Columbia | Domestic Violence Death Review Panel (Not an established committee; convened on ad hoc basis) | In March 2010, the panel reviewed and composed a report on 11 domestic homicides selected from coroner files between 1995 and 2010 ²⁷ On June 8 & 9, 2016, the British Columbia Coroners Service (BCCS) held an additional death review panel on the 100 deaths that resulted from intimate partner violence between 2010 and 2015 ²⁸ | A Report to the Chief Coroner of BC: Findings and Recommendations of the Domestic Violence Death Review Panel (May 2010) and A Review of Intimate Partner Violence Deaths 2010-2015 (November 2016) |
| Manitoba | <u>Domestic</u> <u>Violence Death</u> <u>Review</u> <u>Committee</u> | June 2010 ²⁹ | Manitoba Domestic Violence Death Review Committee Annual Report 2016/2017: Executive Summary |
| New Brunswick | <u>Domestic</u> <u>Violence Death</u> <u>Review</u> <u>Committee</u> | February 2010 ³⁰ | Recommendations from the Domestic Violence Death Review Committee 2017 |

| | Name of the Committee / Panel | Year Committee / Panel Was Established | Most Recent Report |
|------------------------------|--|---|---|
| Newfoundland and Labrador | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Northwest Territories | N/A ^x | N/A | N/A |
| Nova Scotia | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Nunavut | N/A | N/A | Media Release- Recommendations by the Chief Coroner to Prevent the Domestic Violence Related Deaths 2018 |
| Ontario | <u>Domestic</u> <u>Violence Death</u> <u>Review</u> <u>Committee</u> | 2003 ³¹ | 2018 Annual Report |
| PEI | N/A | N/A | N/A |
| Quebec | Domestic Violence Death Review Committee | January 2018 ³² | Acting Together to Save Lives, Dec 2020 (French) |
| Saskatchewan | Saskatchewan's Domestic Violence Death Review Panel | Summer 2016 ³³ | Interpersonal Violence and Abuse: Response to the Domestic Violence Death Review 2019 May 2018 Domestic Violence Death Review Report |
| Yukon | N/A | N/A | N/A |

Provincial and Territorial Tenancy Acts

^{*} The Coalition Against Family Violence advocacy group has called for an NWT Domestic Violence Death Review Committee: CBC News. (2016, February 3). "Coalition Against Family Violence calls for death review panel." Retrieved from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/north/nwt-family-violence-coalition-death-review-panel-1.3432886

Leaving an abusive and violent relationship can be a difficult and often dangerous decision for survivors to make. The Ontario Domestic Violence Death Review Committee found that in 81% of the domestic homicide cases they reviewed, the couple was separated or in the process of separating. Furthermore, there is often a threat of financial insecurity; having to pay monetary penalties for ending their leases early may prevent people from leaving their unsafe environment. Provincial legislation revising Residential Tenancy Acts allows tenants experiencing domestic violence to end their tenancies early with a notice period of approximately one month if they provide their landlord with proper documentation. Provincial governments created these laws to make it easier for victims to leave violent situations without bearing the burden of additional financial penalties.

Table IV. Domestic Violence Provisions in Provincial and Territorial Tenancy Acts

| | Tenancy Act Provisions |
|---------------------|--|
| Alberta | In August 2016, <u>Bill 204</u> , the <u>Residential Tenancies</u> (<u>Safer Spaces for Victims of Domestic Violence</u>) Amendment Act, Termination of Tenancy (Domestic Violence) Regulation, and amendments to the RTA Ministerial Regulation were proclaimed. These changes allow tenants experiencing domestic violence to end their residential tenancies early without the usual financial penalties. In order to do so, they must get a Certificate Confirming Grounds to Terminate Tenancy from the government by submitting either a court order or a Certified Professional Statement. Tenants need to use this certificate to give at least 28 days' notice to their landlord, but they must still pay rent during the notice period. The safe of the professional Statement is the pay rent during the notice period. |
| British Columbia | According to revisions of the Residential Tenancy Act that came into force in December 2016, ³⁷ a tenant may end a fixed-term tenancy before the term is finished if they need to leave the rental unit to protect themselves or their children from family violence. They must have their eligibility confirmed by an authorized third-party verifier using an Ending Fixed-Term Tenancy Confirmation Statement form. The tenant needs to give this completed and signed form to the landlord, along with a one month written notice. Tenants are responsible for paying rent until the end of that notice period, but not for any additional months' rent or for any of the landlord's costs to re-rent. ³⁸ |
| | On May 29 th 2020, <u>Bill M206</u> , <u>the Residential Tenancy Amendment Act</u> ³⁹ came into force. It provides tenants with the ability to end their fixed-term lease if staying in the rental unit is a threat to their safety or security. It broadens the existing family violence provisions and gives a tenant exposed to sexualized violence by a roommate or a neighbour the right to break their lease so they can move to a safer home. ⁴⁰ |
| Manitoba | 2011 amendments to the <u>Residential Tenancies Act</u> stipulate that a tenant may end a tenancy if, because of domestic violence or stalking, they fear for their safety or the safety of their dependent child if the tenancy continues. ⁴¹ The tenant must give the landlord both a notice of termination that is not less than one rental payment period and a certificate signed by the Victim Services Branch of Manitoba Justice (the designated authority), confirming there are grounds to terminate the tenancy. ⁴² In June 2019, <u>Bill 19</u> , <u>The Residential Tenancies Amendment Act</u> , received Royal Assent. ⁴³ It expands the act to include sexual violence, and simplifies the procedure |

| | Tenancy Act Provisions |
|------------------------------|--|
| | for establishing that violence or stalking has occurred, such that certain individuals acting in their professional or employment capacity may provide a statement confirming violence or stalking has occurred.44 |
| New Brunswick | In June 2020, <u>Bill 20 to Amend the Residential Tenancies Act</u> , entered into force ⁴⁵ . <u>A Service New Brunswick News Release</u> explains the mechanisms for qualifying for early lease termination: an emergency intervention order, a court order, or a verification statement. ⁴⁶ |
| Newfoundland and Labrador | Bill 15, An Act to Amend the Residential Tenancies Act, received Royal Assent in late May 2018. ⁴⁷ It allows tenants experiencing family violence to terminate fixed-term rental agreements early without penalty by providing the Director of Residential Tenancies with a court order such as a peace bond or a statement from a designated authority indicating they believe the tenant or the child with them to be subject to family violence. ⁴⁸ Designated authorities include physicians, nurses, social workers, psychologists, police officers, and individuals employed by an agency or organization recognized by the Director of Residential Tenancies. ⁴⁹ |
| Northwest Territories | On August 31, 2015, <u>Bill 42</u> : An Act to Amend the Residential Tenancies Act introduced changes allowing victims of domestic violence with Emergency Protection Orders, or other court orders that demonstrate domestic violence has occurred, to terminate their tenancy agreement. The protection order must be in effect when the tenant applies to terminate the tenancy. The Rental Officer will issue a termination order if the application meets the necessary criteria, which must be given to the landlord no later than 30 days after it is issued. Once the landlord reviews the order, the tenant has 30 days to leave the rental unit. ⁵⁰ |
| Nova Scotia | Changes implemented as of September 16, 2013, to the Residential Tenancy Act in Nova Scotia allow victims of domestic violence to work with the Department of Justice's Victim Services to end a year-to-year or fixed-term lease with one month's notice and without paying a penalty. The tenant must also provide the landlord with a Certificate Confirming Grounds to Terminate Tenancy Due to Domestic Violence within 60 days after the Director of Victim Services has issued the certificate to them. Least to the months of the services has issued the certificate to them. |
| Nunavut | Nunavut's <u>Residential Tenancies Act</u> does not include special provisions for early termination of lease due to violence. |
| Ontario | The Sexual Violence and Harassment Action Plan Act, which came into effect on September 8, 2016, amended the 2006 Residential Tenancies Act to shorten the notice period to end a tenancy for tenants who are survivors of sexual and domestic violence. They can now end their tenancy in 28 days if they believe they or a child living with them may be harmed or injured if they do not leave the unit. Tenants must give their landlord a Tenant's Notice to End My Tenancy Because of Fear of Sexual or Domestic Violence and Abuse (N15) and either a signed Tenant's Statement About Sexual or Domestic Violence and Abuse or a copy of a court order. 54 |
| PEI | Prince Edward Island's <u>Rental of Residential Property Act</u> does not include special provisions for early termination of lease due to violence. |

| | Tenancy Act Provisions |
|--------------|---|
| Quebec | The <u>Civil Code</u> allows a tenant to terminate their residential lease early if their safety or that of a child living with them is threatened because of domestic violence on the part of a spouse or a former spouse, or because of sexual aggression. The tenant must give the landlord a termination notice of lease and an attestation from a public officer indicating that it is necessary to terminate the lease to ensure their safety or that of a child living with them. The lease will be terminated two months after a termination notice has been sent, or one month after the notice has been sent in the case of a lease for an undetermined period or lasting less than 12 months. 65 |
| Saskatchewan | Bill 67: An Act to Amend The Victims of Interpersonal Violence Act and Residential Tenancies Act, 2006 was passed in April 2017, allowing a tenant to end a fixed-term agreement within 28 days if they or their family members are experiencing abuse by another resident or former resident of the home. They must obtain a Certificate Confirming Safety Risk from the Victims Services Branch by providing a copy of a court order/bond or a Professional Person Statement (from a social worker, psychologist, registered nurse, police officer, etc). The tenant should then provide this certificate along with a Notice to Landlord to Terminate a Fixed Term Tenancy for Interpersonal Violence. ⁵⁷ |
| Yukon | Yukon's Residential Landlord and Tenant Act does not include special provisions for early termination of lease due to violence. In April 2016, the Official Opposition NDP caucus tabled a successful motion asking the House to "urge the Government of Yukon to introduce amendments to the Residential Landlord and Tenant Act to allow domestic violence victims to: (1) terminate a lease early and without penalty, and (2) remove an abuser's name from a lease." such amendments were not made to date. In 2018, the Yukon government released a document titled "What if Domestic Violence Affects my Tenancy?" It provides survivors with instructions on how to end a tenancy, negotiate new terms, and other housing resources and information. |

Paid and Unpaid Leave

The momentum to recognize the need for paid leave from work in circumstances of domestic violence is very much linked to the work of the Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse, which collaborated with organized labour in 2011 to conduct a ground-breaking survey on the prevalence and impact of domestic violence on the workplace. Australia's advancements inspired the Canadian Labour Congress and University of Western Ontario to conduct a similar national survey in 2014. Canadian data revealed that domestic violence makes it difficult for one third of survivors to go to work, continues for more than half of them during work, and negatively affects the majority's work performance. Survivors often require unforeseen time to seek medical attention, file protective orders, receive legal assistance, and find safe homes for themselves and their children. The threat of unemployment or financial insecurity can hinder many women from leaving abusive relationships. ⁶¹ In 2016, Manitoba became the first province to ensure job protected leave for domestic violence survivors, providing them with greater social support and increased job security. ⁶²

Table V. Provincially and Territorially Legislated Paid/Unpaid Leave for Domestic Violence Survivors

| | Provision of Law Guaranteeing Domestic Violence Leave | Paid or Unpaid | Total Length of Protected Leave |
|---------------------------|---|--|---|
| Canada | Yes ⁶³ | 5 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁶⁴ | 10 days every calendar year ⁶⁵ |
| Alberta | Yes ⁶⁶ | Unpaid ⁶⁷ | 10 days every calendar year ⁶⁸ |
| British Columbia | Yes ⁶⁹ | Unpaid ⁷⁰ | 10 non-consecutive days, and a second option of up to 15 consecutive weeks ⁷¹ |
| Manitoba | Yes ⁷² | 5 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁷³ | 10 consecutive or intermittent days and an additional 17 continuous weeks in a 52 week period ⁷⁴ |
| New Brunswick | Yes ⁷⁵ | 5 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁷⁶ | 10 days to be used intermittently or continuously, and up to 16 weeks in one continuous period, with the first five days paid ⁷⁷ |
| Newfoundland and Labrador | Yes ⁷⁸ | 3 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁷⁹ | 3 days paid leave and 7 days unpaid leave ⁸⁰ |
| Northwest Territories | Yes (as of 1 January 2020) ⁸¹ | 5 days paid, remaining unpaid | 10 days and up to 15 weeks in a calendar year |
| Nova Scotia | Yes ⁸² | 3 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁸³ | 10 continuous or intermittent days and up to 16 continuous weeks ⁸⁴ |
| Nunavut | No | N/A (Proposed: 10 days paid, remaining unpaid ^{xi}) | N/A (Proposed: 10 days) ^{xii} |
| Ontario | Yes ⁸⁵ | 5 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁸⁶ | 10 days and an additional 15 weeks every calendar year ⁸⁷ |
| PEI | Yes ⁸⁸ | 3 days paid, remainder unpaid ⁸⁹ | 10 days ⁹⁰ |
| Quebec | Yes ⁹¹ | 2 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁹² | 26 weeks over 12 months ⁹³ |

_

xi Proposed by the Nunavut Employees Union in their preparation for a new deal with the Government of Nunavut in early 2019. Retrieved from https://nunatsiaq.com/stories/article/union-nunavut-government-start-talks-on-new-wage-benefit-deal/. Talks are ongoing as of June 2019. Retrieved from https://www.neu.ca/en/news/gn-bargaining-update-4-june-2019-gn-employees.

xii Ibid.

| | Provision of Law Guaranteeing Domestic Violence Leave | Paid or Unpaid | Total Length of Protected Leave |
|--------------|---|--|--|
| Saskatchewan | Yes ⁹⁴ | 5 days paid, remaining unpaid ⁹⁵ | 10 days continuous or intermittent in a 52 week period ⁹⁶ |
| Yukon | No | N/A | N/A |

Table VI. Interpersonal Violence Disclosure Legislation (Clare's Law)

| | Legislative Status |
|------------------------------|--|
| Alberta | In Force The <u>Disclosure to Protect Against Domestic Violence (Clare's Law) Act</u> received assent in October 2019 and <u>entered into force April 1 2021</u> , <u>following consultations on the implementation of Clare's Law</u> in 2020. |
| British Columbia | Bill M 217 – 2019: Interpersonal Violence Disclosure (Clare's Law) Act, 2019 was introduced as a private member's bill in May 2019 but did not make it to second reading. |
| Manitoba | The Manitoba Progressive Conservative Party committed to implementing a Clare's Law in the November 2019 Speech from the Throne |
| New Brunswick | |
| Newfoundland and Labrador | Passed But Still Awaiting Proclamation in 2022 Bill 6: An Act Respecting Disclosure of Information Under An Interpersonal Violence Disclosure Protocol (Clare's Law) was tabled November 4, 2019 and received assent December 6, 2019. |
| Northwest Territories | |
| Nova Scotia | |
| Nunavut | |
| Ontario | Private Member Bill 274, an Act respecting the disclosure of information related to intimate partner violence, was introduced on April 1, 2021 to be Ontario's Clare's Law. A motion for second reading was defeated by a deferred vote of 34 nays to 15 ayes on April 14, 2021. |
| PEI | |

| | Legislative Status |
|--------------|---|
| Quebec | |
| Saskatchewan | In Force Clare's Law was first implemented in Canada in Saskatchewan. It received royal assent in May 2019 and went into effect on June 29, 2020. The Saskatchewan RCMP initially refused to participate, slowing implementation in rural areas under their policing jurisdiction, but they aligned their internal regulations to allow participation in March 2021. |
| Yukon | |

Concluding Remarks

Although by no means exhaustive, it is clear from the tables presented in this review that women fleeing violence in Canada do not have access to the same levels of services or protection across the country.

For example, when looking at the current provision of domestic violence leave, residents of Ontario, New Brunswick, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba have five days of paid leave from work, while residents of PEI, Nova Scotia, and Newfoundland and Labrador have three days, and those in Quebec have two days. Alberta and British Columbia, as well as federally regulated employees, only have access to unpaid leave. Residents of the territories do not have access to leave in cases of domestic violence. It is interesting to note that New Zealand recently passed legislation (July 2018) that stipulates that any person experiencing domestic violence will be entitled to 10 days paid leave from work. ⁹⁷ As of August 1, 2018, Australians have access to five days of unpaid leave. ⁹⁸ In both New Zealand and Australia, the provisions apply on a countrywide basis.

Many other policies and programs differ widely from province to province. Reviewing them was, however, beyond the scope of this current project. This exercise has highlighted how difficult it is to access information that is both up to date and accurate. The lack of transparency makes it extremely difficult to have a clear picture of what is in place and where to access information.

Given the expansiveness of our country and the importance of ensuring that policies and practices (1) respond to the intersections in women's lives and (2) recognize the needs of those marginalized by systems and society, Women's Shelters Canada continues to advocate for a bold, robust and intersectional National Action Plan.

| END NOTES | | |
|-----------|--|--|

- ¹ United Nations Women. (2012). "Handbook for National Action Plans on Violence Against Women." Retrieved from http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/vaw/handbook-for-nap-on-vaw.pdf
- ² Canadian Femicide Observatory (2022). "1 woman or girl killed every 1.5 days, mostly by men" (infographic). Last updated April 4, 2022. Retrieved from (17) Canadian Femicide Observatory on Twitter: "During January, February & March 2022... 1 woman or girl killed every 1.5 days, mostly by men. Thousands more women & girls continue to experience violence at the hands of men. #ThisIsCanada #CallItFemicide https://t.co/0iOjngdnuB" / Twitter
- ³ Statistics Canada, Shana Conroy. "Spousal Violence in Canada, 2019" (article). Last updated October 6, 2021. Retrieved from Spousal violence in Canada, 2019 (statcan.gc.ca)
- ⁴ Ibid.
- ⁵ Statistics Canada, Dyna Ibrahim. "Canadian residential facilities for victims of abuse, 2020/2021" (article). Released April 12, 2022. Retrieved from <u>Canadian residential facilities for victims of abuse, 2020/2021</u> (statcan.gc.ca)
- ⁶ Canadian Network of Women's Shelters and Transition Houses (CWSTH). (2013). "The Case for a National Action Plan on Violence Against Women." Retrieved from http://endvaw.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/The-Case-for-a-National-Action-Plan-on-VAW.pdf (p. 8).
- ⁷ United Nations Women. (2012). "Handbook for National Action Plans on Violence Against Women." Retrieved from http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/vaw/handbook-for-nap-on-vaw.pdf.
- ⁸ CNWSTH. (2013: 6, 39).
- ⁹ Government of Canada, Indigenous Services of Canada. (2018, April). "Family Violence Prevention Program." Retrieved from https://www.sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1100100035253/1533304683142
- ¹⁰ CISION. (2010). "Governments of Canada and Alberta invest in Alberta women's shelters." Retrieved from https://www.newswire.ca/news-releases/governments-of-canada-and-alberta-invest-in-alberta-women-s-shelters-841569400.html
- ¹¹ BC Housing. "Women's Transition Housing and Supports Program." Retrieved from https://www.bchousing.org/housing-assistance/women-fleeing-violence/womens-transition-housing-supports.
- ¹² Government of Manitoba, Status of Women. "Family Violence Prevention Program." Retrieved from http://www.gov.mb.ca/msw/fvpp/index.html
- ¹³ Government of New Brunswick, Social Development. "Transition Houses for Abused Women." Retrieved from http://www2.gnb.ca/content/gnb/en/services/services renderer.14436.Transition Houses for Abused Women. html#serviceDescription
- ¹⁴ Government of New Brunswick, Women's Equality. "Second Stage Housing." Retrieved from http://www2.gnb.ca/content/gnb/en/departments/women/Violence_Prevention_and_Community_Partnerships/content/Second_Stage_Housing.html
- ¹⁵ Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Health and Community Services. "Transition Houses of Newfoundland and Labrador." Retrieved from
- https://www.health.gov.nl.ca/health/findhealthservices/transition.html
- ¹⁶ Government of Northwest Territories. (2018, May). "NWT Family Violence Shelters." Retrieved from https://www.hss.gov.nt.ca/sites/hss/files/family-violence-shelters-brochure.pdf
- ¹⁷ Nova Scotia Advisory Council on the Status of Women. (2018). "Resources." Retrieved from https://women.gov.ns.ca/sites/default/files/documents/MC9/MC9 2018/Resources Making%20Changes Dec201
- ¹⁸ Government of Nunavut, Department of Family Services. "Family Violence." Retrieved from https://www.gov.nu.ca/family-services/information/family-violence
- ¹⁹ Ontario Association of Interval & Transition Houses. "About OAITH." Retrieved from http://www.oaith.ca/about-oaith.html
- ²⁰ Premier's Action Committee on Family Violence Prevention of Prince Edward Island. (2017, January 31).
- "Emergency Services." Retrieved from
- http://www.stopfamilyviolence.pe.ca/index.php3?number=1017066&lang=E
- ²¹ Based on WSC's internal database, validated by the Quebec shelter associations.
- ²² Government of Saskatchewan. "Interpersonal Violence and Abuse Programs Transition Houses." Retrieved from http://www.saskatchewan.ca/residents/justice-crime-and-the-law/victims-of-crime-and-abuse/interpersonal-violence-and-abuse-programs#transition-houses

- ²³ Government of Yukon. "Find a women's shelter." Retrieved from https://yukon.ca/en/legal-and-social-supports/domestic-abuse-support/find-womens-shelter
- ²⁴ Canadian Domestic Homicide Prevention Initiative. (2016). "DVDRC Committees." Retrieved from http://cdhpi.ca/dvdrc-committees
- ²⁵ Cross, P. (2017, July). "What do Domestic Violence Death Review Committees do?" Retrieved from https://lukesplace.ca/what-do-domestic-violence-death-review-committees-do/
- ²⁶ Government of Alberta, Human Services. (2018). "Family Violence Death Review Committee." Retrieved from http://www.humanservices.alberta.ca/department/family-violence-death-review-committee.html
- ²⁷ Government of British Columbia Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, Coroners Service. (2010, May). "Report to the Chief Coroner of British Columbia – Findings and Recommendations of the Domestic Violence Death Review Panel." Retrieved from http://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/sites/default/files/death-review-panel-domestic-violence 0.pdf
- ²⁸ British Columbia Coroners Service. (2016, November). "BC Coroners Service Death Review Panel A Review of Intimate Partner Violence Deaths 2010-2015." Retrieved from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-and-divorce/deaths/coroners-service/death-review-panel/intimate-partner-violence2010-2015.pdf
- ²⁹ Government of Manitoba. (2010, June 16). "Domestic Violence Death Review Committee Established." Retrieved from http://news.gov.mb.ca/news/index.html?item=8880
- ³⁰ Government of New Brunswick. (2010, February 12). "Domestic Violence Death Review Committee established." Retrieved from http://www.gnb.ca/cnb/news/ps/2010e0200ps.htm
- ³¹ Office of the Chief Coroner, Province of Ontario. (2017, September). "Domestic Violence Death Review Committee 2016 Annual Report." Retrieved from
- http://cdhpi.ca/sites/cdhpi.ca/files/2016%20DVDRC%20Annual%20Report%20Accessible%20%28ENGLISH%29.pdf ³² Canadian Domestic Homicide Prevention Initiative. "DVDRC Committees" Retrieved from: http://cdhpi.ca/dvdrc-committees
- ³³ Government of Saskatchewan. (2018, May). "Domestic Violence Death Review Final Report Released." Retrieved from https://www.saskatchewan.ca/government/news-and-media/2018/may/24/domestic-violence-death-review-report
- ³⁴ Western University Centre for Research & Education on Violence against Women & Children. "Domestic violence is there a risk of death?" Retrieved from http://makeitourbusiness.ca/warning-signs/domestic-violence-is-there-a-risk-of-death
- ³⁵ Government of Alberta, Resources. (2019). "Safer spaces for victims of domestic violence." Retrieved from https://open.alberta.ca/publications/residential-tenancies-safer-spaces-for-victims-of-domestic-violence-amendment-act
- ³⁶ Government of Alberta. "Consumer Tips: Safer Spaces for Victims of Domestic Violence Residential Tenancies Act." Retrieved from https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/b065c67a-531e-4487-b2ff-efd6765f9c04/resource/784c12fd-6e51-457f-9584-43cce5a2bb88/download/rta-safer-spaces.pdf
- ³⁷ Government of British Columbia. (2016). "Residential Tenancies News." Retrieved from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/housing-tenancy/residential-tenancies/news
- ³⁸ Government of British Columbia. (2017). "Family Violence or Long-Term Care." Retrieved from https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/housing-tenancy/residential-tenancies/ending-a-tenancy/ending-a-tenancy-in-special-circumstances/family-violence-or-long-term-care
- ³⁹ Landlord BC (2020, June). "Ending Tenancy Due to Household Violence" Retrieved from https://landlordbc.ca/ending-tenancy-due-to-household-violence/
- ⁴⁰ Andrew Weaver MLA. (2019). "BC Green bill aimed to protect tenants from 'household violence' receives Royal Assent." Retrieved from https://www.andrewweavermla.ca/2019/05/30/bc-green-bill-aimed-protect-tenants-household-violence-passes-committee-stage/
- ⁴¹ Government of Manitoba. (2012, January). "Open Doors: A publication of the Residential Tenancies Branch." Retrieved from https://www.gov.mb.ca/cca/rtb/ot/rtbnewsletters/opendoor_jan2012_issue24.pdf
- ⁴² Government of Manitoba. (2015). "Residential Tenancies Branch, Notice of Termination, Notice by a Tenant Fixed-Term Tenancy Agreement." Retrieved from
- https://www.gov.mb.ca/cca/rtb/ot/gbook/s7noticeoftermination nbyt-fixedtermten10.html

- ⁴³ Legislative Assembly of Manitoba. (2019). "Status of Bills." Retrieved from https://www.gov.mb.ca/legislature/business/billstatus.pdf
- ⁴⁴ Legislative Assembly of Manitoba. (2019). "Bill 19 THE RESIDENTIAL TENANCIES AMENDMENT ACT." Retrieved from http://web2.gov.mb.ca/bills/41-4/b019e.php
- ⁴⁵ Legislative Assembly of New Brunswick (2019). "BILL 20 An Act to Amend The Residential Tenancies Act" Retrieved from https://www.gnb.ca/legis/bill/FILE/59/3/Bill-20-e.htm
- ⁴⁶ Service New Bruncwick (2019). "Proposed changes will allow some victims of violence to end their leases early: Retrieved from https://www2.snb.ca/content/snb/en/news/news-release.2019.11.0627.html
- ⁴⁷ House of Assembly Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). "Progress of Bills." Retrieved from https://www.assembly.nl.ca/HouseBusiness/Bills/ga48session3/
- ⁴⁸ House of Assembly of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). "Progress of Bills, Third Session." Retrieved from https://www.assembly.nl.ca/HouseBusiness/Bills/ga48session3/bill1815.htm
- ⁴⁹ Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2018). "Residential Tenancies Act Changes Aim to Improve Province's Rental Environment." Retrieved from
- http://www.releases.gov.nl.ca/releases/2018/servicenl/0517n01.aspx
- ⁵⁰ Government of Northwest Territories. (2015). "Residential Tenancies Act changes." Retrieved from https://www.justice.gov.nt.ca/en/2015/08/residential-tenancies-act-changes
- ⁵¹ Government of Nova Scotia. (2013). "Tenants Facing Domestic Violence." Retrieved from https://novascotia.ca/just/victim_Services/tenant_facing_domestic.asp
- ⁵² Family Law Nova Scotia. (2014). "Ending a Lease Early Domestic Violence Certificates." Retrieved from https://www.nsfamilylaw.ca/family-violence/ending-lease-early-domestic-violence-certificates
- ⁵³Government of Ontario. (2015). "Information for Tenants: Sexual Violence a Harassment Action Plan." Retrieved from https://news.ontario.ca/mma/en/2015/10/sexual-violence-and-harassment-action-plan-residential-tenancies-act-amendments-1.html? ga=2.31461630.1118252775.1527258685-1884463837.1527015102
- ⁵⁴ Social Justice Tribunals Ontario. (2016). "New notice allows victims of sexual and domestic violence to end tenancy in 28 days." Retrieved from http://www.sjto.gov.on.ca/ltb-september-8-2016-new-notice-allows-victims-sexual-domestic-violence-end-tenancy-28-days
- ⁵⁵ Ministère de la Justice du Québec. (2017). "Terminating a residential lease in the event of spousal violence or sexual aggression." Retrieved from https://www.justice.gouv.qc.ca/en/victims/domestic-violence/terminating-a-residential-lease-in-the-event-of-spousal-violence-or-sexual-aggression
- ⁵⁶ Ministère de la Justice du Québec. "Terminating a Lease in the Event of Spousal or Sexual Aggression." Retrieved from https://www.justice.gouv.qc.ca/fileadmin/user_upload/contenu/documents/En_Anglais_/centredoc/publications/victimes/DEP-terminating.pdf
- ⁵⁷Government of Saskatchewan. "How to End a Fixed Term Tenancy Agreement." Retrieved from https://www.saskatchewan.ca/residents/justice-crime-and-the-law/victims-of-crime-and-abuse/interpersonal-violence-and-abuse-programs#how-to-end-a-fixed-term-tenancy-agreement
- ⁵⁸ Yukon NDP Caucus. (2016). "Yukon NDP motion to help domestic violence victims access stable housing gets legislative backing." Retrieved from
- http://www.yukonndpcaucus.ca/motion_to_help_domestic_violence_victims_access_stable_housing_gets_legislative_backing
- ⁵⁹ Yukon News. (2016, May 2). "NDP addresses 'misinformation' about plan to help victims of domestic abuse." Retrieved from https://www.yukon-news.com/news/ndp-addresses-misinformation-about-plan-to-help-victims-of-domestic-abuse
- ⁶⁰ Government of Yukon. (2019). "What if domestic violence affects my tenancy." Retrieved from https://yukon.ca/en/what-if-domestic-violence-affects-my-tenancy
- ⁶¹ Wathen, C. N., MacGregor, J. C. D., MacQuarrie, B. J. with the Canadian Labour Congress. (2014). "Can Work be Safe, When Home Isn't? Initial Findings of a Pan-Canadian Survey on Domestic Violence and the Workplace." London, ON: Centre for Research & Education on Violence Against Women and Children. Retrieved from http://www.learningtoendabuse.ca/sites/default/files/DVWork Survey Report 2014 EN 0.pdf
- ⁶² Government of Manitoba. (2018). "Domestic Violence Leave." Retrieved from https://www.gov.mb.ca/labour/standards/doc,domestic violence leave,factsheet.html

- ⁶³ Government of Canada, Justice Laws Website. (2019). "Canada Labour Code." Retrieved from https://lawslois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/L-2/FullText.html
- ⁶⁴ Parliament of Canada. (2018). "Bill C-86." Retrieved from https://www.parl.ca/DocumentViewer/en/42-1/bill/C-86/royal-assent
- 65 Ibid.
- ⁶⁶ Government of Alberta. "Domestic violence leave." Retrieved from https://www.alberta.ca/domestic-violence- leave.aspx
- ⁶⁷ Ibid.
- 68 Ibid.
- ⁶⁹ Legislative Assembly of British Columbia. (2019) "BILL 8 2019: EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS AMENDMENT ACT, 2019." Retrieved from https://www.leg.bc.ca/parliamentary-business/legislation-debates-proceedings/41stparliament/4th-session/bills/third-reading/gov08-3
- ⁷⁰ Fasken. (2019) "Bill 8: Major Changes to Employment Standards Act Introduced." Retrieved from https://www.fasken.com/en/knowledge/2019/04/van-bill-8-major-changes-to-esa-introduced/
- ⁷¹ Ibid.
- ⁷² Government of Manitoba. (2018, June 5). "Fact Sheet Domestic Violence Leave." Retrieved from https://www.gov.mb.ca/labour/standards/doc,domestic violence leave,factsheet.html#q1986 ⁷³ Ibid.
- ⁷⁴ Ibid.
- ⁷⁵ Government of New Brunswick, News Release. (2018). "Paid leave for individuals subject to domestic, intimate partner or sexual violence available Sept. 1." Retrieved from

https://www2.gnb.ca/content/gnb/en/news/news release.2018.08.1160.html

- ⁷⁶ Ibid.
- 77 Ibid.
- ⁷⁸ House of Assembly Newfoundland and Labrador. (2018). "BILL 32 AN ACT TO AMEND THE LABOUR STANDARDS ACT." Retrieved from https://www.assembly.nl.ca/HouseBusiness/Bills/ga48session3/bill1832.htm 79 Ibid.
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 CBC News. (2019, December 12). "Paid domestic violence leave part of N.W.T. employment act starting next year." Retrieved from https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/north/domestic-leave-nwt-1.5394753
- 82 Nova Scotia Legislature. (2018) "Bill No. 107 An Act to Amend Chapter 246 of the Revised Statutes, 1989, the Labour Standards Code, Respecting Leaves of Absence." Retrieved from https://nslegislature.ca/legc/bills/63rd 1st/3rd read/b107.htm
- 83 Government of Nova Scotia. (2019). "Employment Rights: Leaves from Work." Retrieved from https://novascotia.ca/lae/employmentrights/leaves.asp#domestic-violence
- ⁸⁵ Government of Ontario. (2017, December 21). "Domestic or sexual violence leave." Retrieved from https://www.ontario.ca/document/your-guide-employment-standards-act-0/domestic-or-sexual-violence-leave 86 Ibid.
- 87 Ibid.
- 88 Prince Edward Island Legislative Assembly. (2018). "Bill 116 An Act to Amend the Employment Standards Act (No. 3)." Retrieved from http://www.assembly.pe.ca/bills/pdf first/65/3/bill-116.pdf
- ⁹⁰ Government of Prince Edward Island. "Give input on Employment Standards Act Regulations." Retrieved from https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/en/service/give-input-on-employment-standards-act-regulations
- ⁹¹ National Assembly of Quebec. (2018). "Bill 176 An Act to amend the Act respecting labour standards and other legislative provisions mainly to facilitate family-work balance." Retrieved from

http://www2.publicationsduquebec.gouv.qc.ca/dynamicSearch/telecharge.php?type=5&file=2018C21A.PDF ⁹² Ibid.

- ⁹⁴ Government of Saskatchewan, Publications Centre. (2017). "Chapter 31 The Saskatchewan Employment (Interpersonal Violence Leave) Amendment Act, 2017." Retrieved from http://publications.gov.sk.ca/details.cfm? p = 88403

⁹⁵ Legislative Assembly of Saskatchewan, Bills. (2019). "Bill No. 172 - An Act to amend The Saskatchewan Employment Act respecting the Provision of Paid Interpersonal Violence and Sexual Violence Leave." Retrieved from http://docs.legassembly.sk.ca/legdocs/Bills/28L3S/Bill28-172.pdf
⁹⁶ Ibid.

⁹⁷ Roy, Eleanor Ainge. (2018, July 26). "'A huge win': New Zealand brings in paid domestic violence leave." The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jul/26/new-zealand-paid-domestic-violence-leave-jan-logie

⁹⁸ Australian Government, Fair Work Ombudsman. "Family & domestic violence leave." Retrieved from https://www.fairwork.gov.au/leave/family-and-domestic-violence-leave